Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-5-2017

State v. Ibarra Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44948

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Jessica Ibarra contends the district court made two errors in this case. First, in Docket Number 44949, she contends the district court erred by denying her motion to suppress. Ms. Ibarra was unlawfully restrained by jail officials. During the unlawful restraint, she retained a right to privacy. As such, she did not lose her ability to challenge the subsequent seizure of an item she discarded while unlawfully restrained, and the evidence resulting from the search of that item should have been suppressed. Second, Ms. Ibarra contends the district court abused its discretion by imposing excessive sentences in both cases on appeal.

Accordingly, this Court should reverse the order denying her motion to suppress and reduce her sentence as it deems appropriate, or alternatively, remand these cases for new sentencing hearings.

Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

Ms. Ibarra had been arrested for possession of a controlled substance and possession of drug paraphernalia after she admitted ownership of items which police had found in the car in which she had been riding (Docket Number 44948, *hereinafter*, the "possession" case). (*See* R., pp.7-8.) She was booked into the county jail, at which time, she was strip searched, required to squat and cough, and subjected to a dog sniff. (R., pp.126-27.) No contraband was found at that time. (R., p.127.) Two days later, a second dog sniff was conducted in her cell, and no contraband was found at that time either. (R., p.127.)

A few days later, officers received a tip from another inmate that Ms. Ibarra might have contraband. (See Defense Exhibit A (video of interrogation of Ms. Ibarra); see also Tr., Vol.1,

p.11, Ls.3-20 (defense counsel noting problems with the informant's veracity)¹; Defense Exhibit B (the register of actions for the informant's cases).) Officers entered Ms. Ibarra's cell and apparently saw Ms. Ibarra stick her hands down her pants, which they felt meant she had put something in her vagina.² (*See* R., p.127; Defense Exhibit A (an officer making general assertions about what happened in the cell during his interrogation of Ms. Ibarra).) Ms. Ibarra asserted she had no contraband in her hand at that time, and a search of her cell revealed no contraband. (R., p.127.)

_

However, out of candor, Ms. Ibarra acknowledges those more-specific assertions of fact on appeal. For example, the probable cause affidavit asserted that the tip specifically identified Ms. Ibarra and two other inmates as having methamphetamine on the unit. (R., p.68.) It alleged that, when officers entered Ms. Ibarra's cell, she appeared to have something in her hand and that she put her hands inside her pants. (R., p.68.) It asserted that, when officers ultimately secured her hands, there was nothing in them, but they purportedly smelled of vaginal fluid. (R., p.68; but see R., p.104 n.2 (defense counsel noting the report gave no explanation of the basis for that conclusion).)

¹ The transcripts in this case are provided in three independently bound volumes. To avoid confusion, "Vol.1" will refer to the volume containing the transcript of the hearing on the motion to suppress held on November 21, 2016. "Vol.2" will refer to the volume containing the transcript of the change of plea hearing held on December 2, 2017. "Vol.3" will refer to the volume containing the transcript of the sentencing hearing held on March 6, 2017, and it is consecutively paginated with Vol.2.

²The evidence proffered to the district court while the motion to suppress was being considered included only a general reference to the events leading up to the searches of Ms. Ibarra on the day in question. (*See generally* Defense Exhibits A-B; Tr., Vol.1.) However, in their briefs on the motion, both Ms. Ibarra and the prosecutor acknowledged more specific assertions of fact about those events from the officer's report. (*See* R., pp.102-07, 135-38.) The officer who testified at the motion to suppress hearing did not offer testimony about those facts despite having been involved in those events. (*See generally* Tr., Vol.1, pp.14-27; *compare* R., p.68 (affidavit of probable cause filed in support of the initial complaint).) "[I]t would be improper to consider these facts on appeal as they were not presented to the district court at the time the motion to suppress was being considered." *State v. Smith*, ____ P.3d ____, 2017 WL 5244262, *5 n.6 (Ct. App. Nov. 13, 2017), *petition for review pending*; *accord State v. Babb*, 136 Idaho 95, 97 (Ct. App. 2001) (holding that the district court improperly relied on assertions of fact in the prosecutor's brief which had not actually been proved by the evidence offered in regard to the motion to suppress).

Officers removed Ms. Ibarra and two other inmates also suspected of possessing contraband from the unit in order to conduct searches of their persons. (*See* R., pp.127-28.) The other two inmates were strip searched, and when they asked, were allowed to go to the bathroom in a toilet with the plumbing shut off. (R., 128.) When officers found no contraband on them, the other two inmates were allowed to return to the unit. (R., p.128.)

Ms. Ibarra was also strip searched, and no contraband was found. (R., pp.127-28; Tr., Vol.1, p.26, Ls.7-9.) However, when she asked permission to go to the bathroom, her request was denied, purportedly because officers were waiting on a warrant to conduct a body cavity search.³ (R., p.129.) After some time,⁴ she was ultimately allowed to go to the bathroom, but rather than being allowed to use a proper toilet, she was required to use a "port-a-toilet" consisting of a toilet seat placed over a biohazard bag. (R., p.129; Tr., Vol.1, p.26, Ls.10-12.) Ms. Ibarra described that process as "degrading, humiliating, and unsanitary." (R., p.129.) Her waste was examined, and still, no contraband was found. (R., p.129.) As one officer admitted, at that point, they had done everything they could without seeking a warrant. (Tr., Vol.1, p.41, Ls.2-6.)

Nevertheless, officers continued to keep Ms. Ibarra in handcuffs. (R., pp.129-30.) She asserted the way in which she was handcuffed aggravated the documented issues with her back. (R., p.128.) The officers also interrogated her even though she had already clearly requested to

_

³ No evidence or testimony was offered to show that the officers had actually made efforts to secure a body-cavity search warrant. (*See generally* R., Tr. Vol.1.) Trial counsel also argued they would not have actually been able to get a warrant because, in light of the fact that none of their other searches of Ms. Ibarra had uncovered any contraband, they could not have shown that probable cause continued to exist at that point. (Tr., Vol.1, p.37, L.18 - p.38, L.20.)

⁴ The timeline is not particularly clear, as, according to the officer, Ms. Ibarra was detained on the day in question for "over two and a half hours approximately." (Tr., Vol.1, p.25, Ls.3-7.) She was allowed to use the bathroom sometime within the first hour and a half. (Tr., Vol.1, p.26, L.19 - p.27, L.3.)

speak to a lawyer.⁵ (R., p.129.) During the unlawful interrogation, one officer again mentioned the possibility that they could seek a warrant to conduct a body cavity search. (*See* Defense Exhibit A (video of the interrogation); R., p.128 (Ms. Ibarra describing this as a threat to get such a warrant if she did not cooperate).)

When Ms. Ibarra did not make any admissions in response to their questions, the officers took her back to the booking area, still in handcuffs. (*See* R., pp.129-30; Defense Exhibit A; State's Exhibit 3.) Sometime later, a video camera shows Ms. Ibarra throw something across the room. (State's Exhibit 3.) Officers located the item, seized it, searched it, and found a wrapped-up plastic container. (*See* State's Exhibits 1-2; Tr., Vol.1, p.16, L.11 - p.17, L.13.) The plastic container tested presumptively positive for methamphetamine. (Tr., Vol.1, p.17, Ls.15-20.) As a result, Ms. Ibarra was charged with possession of contraband in a jail (Docket Number 44949, *hereinafter*, the "contraband" case).

Ms. Ibarra moved to suppress the evidence found in the plastic container. (R., p.121.) She argued that incarcerated persons retain some level of a right to privacy under the Fourth Amendment, a right which is balanced against the reasonableness of officers' intrusions into that privacy. (R., p.109.) She explained that, once the strip search occurred, her body waste was examined, and the officers found no contraband, they no longer had probable cause to continue restraining her. (Tr., Vol.1, p.37, Ls.18-23.) She also argued that, even if they had tried, the officers could not have actually secured a warrant from a magistrate at that point. (Tr., Vol.1,

_

⁵ Ms. Ibarra moved to suppress her statements from that interrogation because of the violation of her right to speak to an attorney. (R., p.121.) The prosecutor did not contest that aspect of her motion. (R., pp.138-39) As such, the district court granted that aspect of her motion. (Tr., Vol.1, p.4, Ls.5-10.)

p.37, L.18 - p.38, L.20.) Thus, the continued detention was illegal, and therefore, the plastic container should be suppressed even though she had discarded it. (Tr., Vol.1, p.38, Ls.5-17.)

The district court concluded the officers' actions were reasonable because of the jail's interest in dealing with contraband. (Tr., Vol.1, p.40, L.22 - p.41, L.1.) It also concluded "that the property seeking to be suppressed was not found as a result of a search but rather as a result I assume of a detention for two and a half hours and then property that was discarded on the floor. . . . [I]t's abandoned." (Tr., Vol.1, p.41, Ls.2-6.) As a result, it denied her motion to suppress the evidence from the plastic container. (Tr., Vol.1, p.41, Ls.6-7.)⁶

Ms. Ibarra subsequently entered a conditional guilty plea in which she reserved her right to appeal that decision. (R., pp.164-65; Tr., Vol.2, p.4, Ls.16-24.) As a result, she pled guilty to one count of possession of a controlled substance in the possession case and one count possession of contraband in prisons in the contraband case. (Tr., Vol.2, p.3, L.21 - p.4, L.1.) She also agreed to pay restitution for all the lab testing in both cases and reimbursement for her public defender. (Tr., Vol.2, p.4, Ls.2-10.) In exchange, the State agreed to dismiss various other charges and sentencing enhancements. (Tr., Vol.2, p.4, Ls.11-15.)

At the sentencing hearing, the parties acknowledged that Ms. Ibarra was still subject to a unified sentence of nineteen years, with six and one-half years fixed, in an unrelated case. (Tr., Vol.3, p.17, Ls.9-22.) The State recommended the district court impose a concurrent twelve-year aggregate sentence in these cases, consisting of a seven-year sentence, all fixed, in the possession case, followed by a consecutive five-year sentence, all indeterminate, in the contraband case. (Tr., Vol.3, p.21, Ls.12-21.)

5

⁶ The district court did not enter a written order in regard to the motion to suppress. (*See generally* R.)

Defense counsel noted Ms. Ibarra was still relatively young and had begun taking steps toward rehabilitation. (Tr., Vol.3, p.23, Ls.8-23, p.24, Ls.16-23.) He explained it should be quickly apparent whether Ms. Ibarra was serious about pursuing those changes, and so, the addition of six months of fixed time called for by the State's requested sentence would not really serve the goals of sentencing. (Tr., Vol.3, p.26, L.7 - p.27, L.8.) Rather, he recommended the district court impose, concurrent with her sentence from the other case, an aggregate sentence of six and one-half years in these cases, consisting of a six and one-half year sentence, with three years fixed, in the possession case and a concurrent five-year sentence, all indeterminate, in the contraband case. (Tr., Vol.3, p.25, L.21 - p.26, L.6.) The district court imposed the sentence recommended by the State. (Tr., Vol.3, p.30, Ls.10-16.)

Ms. Ibarra filed timely notices of appeal from the judgments of conviction in both cases. (R., pp.34, 43, 187, 197.)

<u>ISSUES</u>

- I. Whether the district court erred by denying Ms. Ibarra's motion to suppress in the contraband case.
- II. Whether the district court abused its discretion in both cases by imposing excessive sentences on Ms. Ibarra.

ARGUMENT

I.

The District Court Erred By Denying Ms. Ibarra's Motion To Suppress In The Contraband Case

A. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

The standard of review in regard to motions to suppress is bifurcated. *State v. Ross*, 160 Idaho 757, 759 (Ct. App. 2016). The appellate court defers to the factual findings made by the district court which are supported by substantial evidence, but reviews questions of law *de novo*. *Id*.

B. The District Court Should Have Suppressed The Evidence From The Plastic Container Because Ms. Ibarra Discarded It While She Was Subjected To Unlawful Police Conduct

A person usually does not retain a privacy interest in an item which she discards prior to being seized herself, and so, in those cases, she may not challenge the seizure and subsequent search of those items. *See, e.g., California v. Hodari D.*, 499 U.S. 621, 625 (1991); *State v. Zuniga*, 143 Idaho 431, 437 (Ct. App. 2006). "If the abandonment is caused by illegal police conduct, however, the abandonment is not voluntary." *State v. Harwood*, 133 Idaho 50, 52 (Ct. App. 1999); *accord Ross*, 160 Idaho at 759-60. In that latter scenario, "the defendant's actions were not truly their own, but were coerced and precipitated by the illegal police conduct." *State v. Schrecengost*, 134 Idaho 547, 550 (Ct. App. 2000). As a result, in that latter scenario, the defendant retains her ability to challenge the seizure and subsequent search of the evidence in question even though she might otherwise have been said to have abandoned it. *See, e.g., Ross*, 160 Idaho at 760.

Thus, in *Ross*, the defendant was able to challenge the officers' search of a duffle bag even though he had disclaimed ownership of the bag because the officers had unlawfully seized

the duffle bag prior to his disclaimer of ownership. *Id.* His "abandonment was not voluntary and, therefore, did not divest him of standing to challenge the search of the duffle bag" because the officers were still actively engaged in the search for evidence at the time he disclaimed ownership of the duffle bag. *Id.* As a result, the fruits of the subsequent search of the duffle bag should have been suppressed. *Id.*

Schrecengost illustrates the contrasting scenario. In that case, the defendant was unlawfully arrested without probable cause and strip searched at the jail. Schrecengost, 134 Idaho at 548. The officer found and seized several baggies during that strip search. Id. Thereafter, while the officer was distracted, the defendant took back the baggies and tried to flush them down a toilet. Id. The Court of Appeals held that, because the baggies had been taken from the defendant's possession and the officers were no longer actively searching for evidence at the time the defendant discarded the evidence, her act of discarding the baggies was sufficiently separate from the illegal arrest, such that the State could use that evidence while prosecuting a new charge of destruction of evidence.⁷ Id. at 550.

This case is more like *Ross* than *Schrecengost* because, as will be discussed in detail, *infra*, at the time Ms. Ibarra discarded the plastic container, the officers were unlawfully restraining her, they were continuing to search for evidence, and the item in question had not yet been seized from Ms. Ibarra. Additionally, the district court acknowledged Ms. Ibarra's decision to discard the container was caused by the continuing detention: "the property seeking to be suppressed was not found as a result of a search but rather as a result I assume of a detention for

⁷ The *Schrecengost* Court did not express any opinion as to whether the State could have used the evidence from the baggies in other prosecutions where the seizure and search of those baggies was more directly related to the unlawful arrest, such as in regard to her original possession of the controlled substances in the baggies. *Schrecengost*, 134 Idaho at 550 n.4.

two and a half hours and then property that was discarded on the floor." (Tr., Vol.1, p.41, Ls.2-6.) Therefore, if that detention was unlawful, and if Ms. Ibarra retained a privacy interest at that time, her discarding of the plastic container would be caused by the unlawful police conduct, and so, would not have been voluntary. *Compare Ross*, 160 Idaho at 760. In that case, Ms. Ibarra would still be able to challenge the seizure and subsequent search of the plastic container.

1. Ms. Ibarra retained a right to privacy under the Fourth Amendment despite being incarcerated

"Prison walls do not form a barrier separating prison inmates from the protections of the Constitution." *Turner v. Safley*, 482 U.S. 78, 84 (1987); *accord Sivak v. State*, 111 Idaho 118, 120 (Ct. App. 1986). One of the rights which incarcerated persons retain is the right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures. *See, e.g., Florence v. Bd. of Chosen Freeholders of County of Burlington*, 566 U.S. 318, 327 (2012); *Bell v. Wolfish*, 441 U.S. 520, 558-60 (1979); *see generally* U.S. CONST. amend IV. However, the understanding of what is and is not reasonable is different inside a penal institution than in the community at large. For example, because of the issues inherent in jail administration, an inmate's right to privacy must "always yield to what must be considered the paramount interest in institutional security." *Hudson v. Palmer*, 468 U.S. 517, 528 (1984) (finding searches of an inmate's cell to be reasonable).

As such, "correctional officers must be permitted to devise *reasonable* search policies to detect and deter the possession of contraband in facilities." *Florence*, 566 U.S. at 328 (emphasis added). However, just because one search might be reasonable in the circumstances of a particular case, that does not necessarily mean all such searches are automatically reasonable.

Id. at 338-39; see id. at 340 (Roberts, C.J., concurring) ("it is important to me that the Court does not foreclose the possibility of an exception to the rule it announces."); id. at 340-41 (Alito, J., concurring) (noting that the lead opinion had not addressed whether the search it had found reasonable in that case would always be reasonable, and "[i]n light of that limitation, I join the opinion of the Court in full"). Thus, the determination of whether a correctional officer's actions are reasonable in a given circumstance is determined by evaluating the totality of the circumstances, which necessarily includes the realities of incarceration. See id. at 327 ("There is no mechanical way to determine whether intrusions on an inmate's privacy are reasonable. The need for a particular search must be balanced against the resulting invasion of personal rights.") (citing Bell, 441 U.S. at 559)

The United States Supreme Court has provided guidance on how to determine whether a search for contraband is reasonable: "in the absence of substantial evidence in the record to indicate that the officials have exaggerated their response to these considerations [such as locating contraband,] courts should ordinarily defer to [prison administrators'] expert judgment in such matters." *Id.* at 328 (internal quotation omitted). That said, "[w]e do not underestimate the degree to which these searches may invade the personal privacy of inmates." *Bell*, 441 U.S. at 560. As such, there are legitimate concerns that prison officials may go too far in searching for contraband, that there may be "instances of officers engaging in intentional humiliation and other abusive practices. There may also be legitimate concerns about the invasiveness of searches involving the touching of detainees." *Florence*, 566 U.S. at 339. "Such an abuse cannot be condoned." *Bell*, 441 U.S. at 560.

The totality of the circumstances in this case reveal that, at the time Ms. Ibarra discarded the plastic container, the officers had exaggerated their response beyond what was reasonable.

As the officer admitted at the suppression hearing, they had done everything they could without a warrant. (*See* Tr., Vol.1, p.27, Ls.8-12.) They had strip searched Ms. Ibarra when she first arrived at the jail. (R., pp.126-27.) That search included having her squat and cough. (R., p.127.) It also included having a canine sniff her. (R., p.126.) They had searched her cell, which included a second canine sniff. (R., p.127.) On the day in question, they conducted a second strip search of her person. (R., pp.127-28; Tr., Vol.1 p.26, Ls.7-9.) They only allowed her to go to the bathroom under supervision and then examined her waste. (R., p.129.) During each of the searches, officers did not find any contraband in Ms. Ibarra's possession. (R., pp.126-29.) Thus, they had done everything they were reasonably allowed to do, and so, by continuing to restrain her in order to go further, beyond what was reasonable, they exaggerated their response.

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