Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-27-2018

State v. Ibarra Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44948

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

ARGUMENT

I. <u>Because Ibarra Was Not Unlawfully Seized, And Abandoned The Container Of</u> <u>Methamphetamine, The District Court Correctly Denied Her Motion To Suppress With</u> <u>Respect To The Plastic Container</u>

A. Introduction

Ibarra contends the district court erred when it denied her motion to suppress with respect to the plastic container because she was "unlawfully restrained" when she discarded it. (Appellant's brief, p. 1.) Additionally, Ibarra claims that her "decision to discard the container was caused by the continuing detention." (Appellant's brief, pp. 9-10 (citing Tr. vol. I, p. 41, Ls. 2-6).) Thus, Ibarra argues, abandoning the container "would not have been voluntary" and she "would still be able to challenge the seizure and subsequent search of the plastic container." (Appellant's brief, p. 10.)

These arguments fail. Ibarra fails to show that the district court erred by concluding that the officers' conduct during the detention was constitutionally reasonable under the circumstances. (See Tr. vol. I, p. 40, L. 14 – p. 41, L. 1.) Ibarra also fails to show the district court erred in concluding that the container was abandoned. (See Tr. vol. I, p. 41, Ls. 2-6.) Because the detention was constitutionally proper and because Ibarra voluntarily abandoned the container, Ibarra fails to show the district court erred in partially denying her motion to suppress.

B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

On review of a ruling on a motion to suppress, the appellate court defers to the trial court's findings of fact unless clearly erroneous, but exercises free review of the trial court's determination as to whether constitutional standards have been satisfied in light of

the facts. <u>State v. Willoughby</u>, 147 Idaho 482, 485-86, 211 P.3d 91, 94-95 (2009); <u>State v. Fees</u>, 140 Idaho 81, 84, 90 P.3d 306, 309 (2004). If findings are supported by substantial evidence in the record, those "[f]indings will not be deemed clearly erroneous." <u>State v. Stewart</u>, 145 Idaho 641, 648, 181 P.3d 1249, 1256 (Ct. App. 2008) (quoting <u>State v. Jaborra</u>, 143 Idaho 94, 98, 137 P.3d 481, 485 (Ct. App. 2006)).

C. <u>Ibarra Was Not Unlawfully Seized</u>

The Fourth Amendment provides that "[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons ... against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause ... particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized." U.S. Const. amend. IV. In certain circumstances police officers may make a warrantless arrest, based on probable cause. See State v. Jenkins, 143 Idaho 918, 920–21, 155 P.3d 1157, 1159–60 (2007) (citing United States v. Watson, 423 U.S. 411, 424 (1976)); State v. Julian, 129 Idaho 133, 136–37, 922 P.2d 1059, 1062–63 (1996); I.C. § 19-603.

Following a lawful warrantless arrest, "the Fourth Amendment requires a judicial determination of probable cause as a prerequisite to extended restraint of liberty following arrest." <u>Gerstein v. Pugh</u>, 420 U.S. 103, 114 (1975). In these circumstances "[a] person lawfully committed to pretrial detention has not been adjudged guilty of any crime. He has had only a 'judicial determination of probable cause as a prerequisite to [the] extended restraint of [his] liberty following arrest." <u>Bell v. Wolfish</u>, 441 U.S. 520, 536–37 (1979) (quoting <u>Gerstein</u>, 420 U.S. at 114); <u>see Virginia v. Paul</u>, 148 U.S. 107, 119 (1893)). Nevertheless, "[u]nder such circumstances, the Government concededly

may detain him to ensure his presence at trial and may subject him to the restrictions and conditions of the detention facility so long as those conditions and restrictions do not amount to punishment, or otherwise violate the Constitution." Bell, 441 U.S. at 536-37.

Applying those standards here, the district court found that the jail officials struck the proper balance and the seizure of Ibarra was constitutionally proper:

All right. Thank you. So folks in county jail have limited Fourth Amendment rights. They do have Fourth Amendment rights nonetheless and there's a balancing test of whether the officers were reasonable under the Fourth Amendment as against an invasion of personal rights that any search might entail. There was no search here. There's no body cavity search here. We do have a defendant that was kept in—held in an area two and a half hours or thereabouts. The jail does have a reasonable interest in making sure there's no contraband. The officer's conduct must be reasonable under the circumstances to justify the interest by the government and I find that their conduct was reasonable under the circumstances.

(Tr. vol. I, p. 40, L. 14 – p. 41, L. 1.)

Ibarra has failed to show that this conclusion was erroneous. Ibarra's challenge below was to the "continued detention" that occurred *after* she used the "port a potty" provided by officers. (See, e.g., Tr. vol. I, p. 38, Ls. 5-8.) This occurred during the approximately two-and-a-half hours when she was handcuffed in an intake area. (Tr. vol. I, p. 26, L. 19 – p. 27, L. 7.) Officers did not perform a body cavity search of Ibarra. (Tr. vol. I, p. 16, Ls. 7-10; <u>see</u> R., pp. 126-30.) The question on appeal, therefore, is whether the *seizure* of Ibarra—having her sit in the booking area while handcuffed—was supported by probable cause.

Handcuffing an already-detained inmate for approximately two and a half hours would not violate the Fourth Amendment. At the time she was handcuffed, Ibarra had already been arrested for CR-2016-15050 and was a jail inmate. (See R., p. 126.) The

record contains the officer's sworn affidavit of probable cause for that case, as well as the magistrate's notation of "PC found" on the same. (R., pp. 7-8.) Based on that affidavit, the magistrate found "that the following crime or crimes were committed *and probable cause that the defendant committed them*...." (R., p. 6 (emphasis added) (showing the minutes of the magistrate's telephonic "IN CUSTODY PROBABLE CAUSE" hearing).) The magistrate later found probable cause existed to bind Ibarra over into district court. (R., p. 19.)

Moreover, Ibarra has never challenged the probable cause underlying CR-2016-15050, or the propriety of the arrest in that case, and does not challenge the propriety of that arrest on appeal. (See generally, Appellant's brief.) And Ibarra has not shown that some heightened standard, beyond probable cause, is required before a jail detainee may be handcuffed and moved to a separate area inside the jail. To the contrary, because Ibarra was incarcerated, it did not violate the Fourth Amendment to "seize" her by handcuffing her while she was already properly arrested and detained in jail to begin with. <u>Bell</u>, 441 U.S. at 536-37 (holding "the Government concededly may detain" a pretrial detainee "to ensure his presence at trial and may subject him to the restrictions and conditions of the detention facility so long as those conditions and restrictions do not amount to punishment, or otherwise violate the Constitution").

On appeal, Ibarra argues that officers "had done everything they were reasonably allowed to do, and so, by continuing to restrain her in order to go further, beyond what was reasonable, they exaggerated their response." (Appellant's brief, p. 12.) She contends that after an allegedly "unlawful interrogation," not at issue in this appeal,³ the officers "continued to keep Ms. Ibarra in the booking area in a way which aggravated the documented issues with her back." (Appellant's brief, p. 12.) Citing <u>Bell v. Wolfish</u>, 441 U.S. 520, and <u>State v. Henage</u>, 143 Idaho 655, 657-58, 152 P.3d 16, 18-19 (2007), Ibarra claims that "the continued restriction of Ms. Ibarra's already-limited liberty was not *reasonably* related to a legitimate goal," and "amounted to unconstitutional punishment." (Appellant's brief, pp. 13-17 (emphasis in original).)

These arguments fail. As she did below, Ibarra continues to differentiate between the prior police actions—"everything they were reasonably allowed to do"—and the "continued detention" which she claims is illegal. (Appellant's brief, pp. 5, 12.) This echoes her argument below: that everything prior to the search of her waste was reasonable, but continuing to detain her afterwards was not. (Tr. vol. I, p. 37, Ls. 18-23 ("Whatever probable cause they had or reasonable suspicion for a matter of fact to detain my client is fine. Do their strip search is fine. That's fine."); p. 38, Ls. 5-8 ("Your Honor, the moment she went to the bathroom and nothing was found, I would argue to you that any longer than that is now violating her constitutional rights to be free from an unreasonable seizure.").) But Ibarra fails to provide authority showing that the "continued detention"—i.e., having her sit in the booking area in handcuffs—would be an unconstitutional seizure of an already-incarcerated inmate.

³ The district court granted Ibarra's suppression motion with respect to her statements, and her <u>Miranda</u> claims below are therefore not at issue on appeal. (Tr. vol. I, p. 4, Ls. 2-11). Moreover, a <u>Miranda</u> violation is not, on its own, grounds for suppressing physical evidence. <u>See, e.g., State v. Garcia</u>, 143 Idaho 774, 781–82, 152 P.3d 645, 652–53 (Ct. App. 2006).

<u>Henage</u> does not support Ibarra's claim, because the defendant there was pulled over for a routine traffic stop, and challenged the warrantless pat search of his person. <u>See Henage</u>, 143 Idaho at 657-58, 152 P.3d at 18-19. Ibarra fails to show how this case has any bearing on the propriety of handcuffing an inmate, properly arrested with probable cause, and moving her to a different area.

<u>Bell</u> is likewise inapplicable here, as it details the Fifth Amendment standards relating to punishment and exaggerated jail official responses, and Fourth and Fifth Amendment standards relating to "visual body-cavity inspections" and unannounced living-area searches. <u>Bell</u>, 441 U.S. at 536-48, 555-57, 558-563. None of these standards are at issue in this case. Below, Ibarra never claimed there was a Fifth Amendment violation or an unlawful search (<u>See R., pp. 122-23, 129-30; see also Tr. vol. I, p. 37, Ls. 18-20 ("Do their strip search is fine. That's fine.").) Because Ibarra failed to raise Fifth Amendment or illegal search claims below, she cannot do so for the first time on appeal. <u>State v. Garcia–Rodriguez</u>, 162 Idaho 271, <u> </u>, 396 P.3d 700, 704 (2017) ("Issues not raised below will not be considered by this court on appeal, and the parties will be held to the theory upon which the case was presented to the lower court.").</u>

To the extent Ibarra raises Fifth Amendment claims now (see Appellant's brief, p. 13), or alludes that the searches preceding the handcuffing were improper (see Appellant's brief, p. 14), even if such claims have been preserved, they fail on the merits. Given the ubiquitous use of handcuffs in jail, Ibarra fails to show that simple handcuffing here—even granting the allegation that it aggravated her back—would have qualified as an "exaggerated" police response prohibited by the Fifth Amendment. <u>Cf. Limbert v.</u> <u>Twin Falls Cty.</u>, 131 Idaho 344, 348, 955 P.2d 1123, 1127 (Ct. App. 1998) (examining

defendant's challenge to being handcuffed while transported to jail, and concluding that, despite the defendant's claims of pain and preexisting medical conditions, "that the minor inconvenience suffered by Limbert was justified by the important interests of officer safety and jailhouse order. A policy requiring officers to handcuff arrestees when they take them to the jail so that the suspect may not grab a weapon, fight with officers, or cause damage to county property is inherently reasonable").

Moreover, assuming *arguendo* that handcuffing Ibarra was an exaggerated response, and therefore an unconstitutional punishment, Ibarra has not articulated how a Fifth Amendment violation here would result in a suppression of evidence. <u>State v.</u> <u>Schrecengost</u>, 134 Idaho 547, 549, 6 P.3d 403, 405 (Ct. App. 2000) ("Not all evidence obtained by the police after an unconstitutional action is suppressible, even if it would not have been obtained without the illegal action."); <u>State v. Bainbridge</u>, 117 Idaho 245, 249, 787 P.2d 231, 235 (1990).

Finally, regarding the propriety of the strip search, the <u>Bell</u> Court itself held that requiring pretrial detainees "to expose their body cavities for visual inspection as a part of a strip search" violated neither the Fourth nor the Fifth Amendment. <u>Bell</u>, 441 U.S. at 558-62. The Supreme Court later clarified that permissible strip searches may also include requirements to shower, instructions to disrobe and submit to visual checks for contraband, and requirements to "cough in a squatting position as part of the process." <u>Florence v. Board of Chosen Freeholders of the Cnty. of Burlington</u>, 566 U.S. 318, 323-34 (2012). This is exactly what took place here, and Ibarra conceded below that the strip search was proper. (R., p. 127; Tr. vol. I, p. 37, Ls. 18-23 ("Whatever probable cause

they had or reasonable suspicion for a matter of fact to detain my client is fine. Do their strip search is fine. That's fine.").)

This leaves the question of <u>Bell</u>'s relevance to the merits of Ibarra's only preserved claim: whether it was an unconstitutional *seizure* to continue to handcuff Ibarra while she was in the booking area. <u>Bell</u> does not set forth a Fourth Amendment seizure standard that already-detained inmates may not be subsequently handcuffed. <u>See generally Bell</u>, 441 U.S. 520. Nor does <u>Bell</u> set forth a higher standard than probable cause for handcuffing an already-incarcerated inmate. While <u>Bell</u> certainly suggests that in some circumstances handcuffing could be *relevant* in a Fifth Amendment inquiry, it does not suggest that handcuffing a properly detained inmate would be an illegal *seizure* under the Fourth Amendment, given that the inmate is already legally seized.

Ibarra therefore fails to show the district court's decision was incorrect. She has not shown that any actions preceding the handcuffing violated her Fourth Amendment rights, and she conceded below that the pre-handcuffing actions were reasonable in these circumstances. Nor has Ibarra shown that anything more than the probable cause justifying her original arrest would be required to handcuff her. Moreover, she fails to show that <u>Bell</u> would even apply here, or if it would, that it would show any constitutional violation on the merits. The court correctly concluded that the officers' conduct "was reasonable under the circumstances." (Tr. vol. I, p. 40, L. 23 – p. 41, L. 1.)

D. <u>Ibarra Abandoned The Plastic Container And Accordingly Has No Standing To</u> <u>Challenge Its Recovery</u>

"One who challenges the legality of a search must establish that he or she had a legitimate expectation of privacy in the thing searched." <u>State v. Harwood</u>, 133 Idaho 50,

52, 981 P.2d 1160, 1162 (Ct. App. 1999) (citing <u>Rawlings v. Kentucky</u>, 448 U.S. 98, 104 (1980)). An individual who "voluntarily abandons property prior to the search cannot be said to possess the requisite privacy interest" in the property. <u>Harwood</u>, 133 Idaho at 52, 981 P.2d at 1162 (citing <u>Abel v. United States</u>, 362 U.S. 217, 241 (1960)). Abandonment in this context "occurs through words, acts, and other objective facts indicating that the defendant voluntarily discarded, left behind, or otherwise relinquished his interest in his property." <u>Harwood</u>, 133 Idaho at 52, 981 P.2d at 1162 (citing <u>United States v. Ramos</u>, 12 F.3d 1019, 1023 (11th Cir. 1994); <u>Bond v. United States</u>, 77 F.3d 1009, 1013 (7th Cir. 1996); <u>United States v. McDonald</u>, 100 F.3d 1320 (7th Cir. 1996)). The <u>Harwood</u> Court cautioned that "[i]f the abandonment is caused by illegal police conduct, however, the abandonment is not voluntary." 133 Idaho at 52, 981 P.2d at 1162; <u>see also United States v. Roman</u>, 849 F.2d 920, 923 (5th Cir. 1988); <u>United States v. Tolbert</u>, 692 F.2d 1041, 1045 (6th Cir. 1982).

Here, the district court denied Ibarra's motion to suppress on the further grounds that she abandoned the plastic container. The decision was correct, as the video exhibit plainly shows Ibarra standing up, and, despite being handcuffed, throwing the container away. (State's Ex. 3, 00:32-00:43.) The act of throwing the container away was plainly voluntary, and *prima facie* evidence of Ibarra's intent to relinquish her interest in it.

Ibarra argues that Ibarra's abandonment was "caused by the continuing detention." (Appellant's brief, pp. 9-10.) She cites to <u>State v. Ross</u>, 160 Idaho 757, 759, 378 P.3d 1056, 1058 (Ct. App. 2016), and the district court's conclusion that "the property seeking [sic] to be suppressed was not found as a result I assume of a detention for two and a half

hours and then property that was discarded on the floor." (Appellant's brief, pp. 9-10 (quoting Tr. vol. I, p. 41, Ls. 2-6).)

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